






 



From: Julie Fossitt [mailto:Julie.Fossitt@chg.gov.ie]  
Sent: 14 February 2018 14:43 
To: caroline@aquafact.ie 
Cc: Manager Dau  
Subject: Tidal device in the Fergus Estuary - G Pre00024/2018 
 
Dear Caroline 
 
I refer to your recent scoping request concerning the development/deployment of a test tidal device 
in the Fergus Estuary, and within the European sites, Lower River Shannon SAC (site code 002165) 
and River Shannon and River Fergus Estuaries SPA (004077).  
 
As you may not be aware, the proposed location is within the plan area of the Strategic Integrated 
Framework Plan (SIFP) for the Shannon Estuary, which has been given effect by Clare County Council 
as part of Clare County Development Plan. The current proposal appears to come within the remit of 
the SIFP by virtue of its location, the type of activity (tidal energy generation, albeit on a test basis), 
and the involvement of the Council. The location, however, is not an ‘area of opportunity’ site for 
tidal energy within the SIFP. At this early stage, it would be advised to confirm with the Council 
whether the proposal is in accordance with the SIFP and, accordingly, with the County Development 
Plan.  
 
You should also note that there is specified plan-level mitigation for tidal energy developments in 
the Shannon Estuary, and within the European sites. You are advised to consult the SIPF (section 5.6) 
and the associated volume of mitigation measures (volume 2) to establish which apply in this case 
and which are of relevance to the scope of the assessments required.  
 
When the mitigation measures have been reviewed, and the Council/developer is satisfied that the 
proposal is consistent with the SIFP, NPWS can be consulted further about specific aspects of 
assessments that may be required (noting that it seems likely that AquaFact will be producing an NIS 
and that DHPLG will be carrying out the appropriate assessment). The case reference allocated by 
DAU - G Pre00024/2018 – should be quoted in all correspondence.  
 
Kind regards, 
Julie 
 
Julie Fossitt BA, PhD, MCIEEM 
Divisional Ecologist, Ecological Assessment Unit 
National Parks and Wildlife Service 
Department of Culture, Heritage and the Gaeltacht 
2nd Floor, Custom House, Druid Lane, Flood Street, Galway H91 XV2C 
Direct line: 0761 002608; extn 8608. Mobile: 087 9223330 

 
_____________ 
 
From: Caroline [mailto:caroline@aquafact.ie]  
Sent: 08 February 2018 09:32 
To: Manager Dau 
Subject: JN1468 Scoping Request 
 
Dear Sir/Madam, 
 

mailto:Julie.Fossitt@chg.gov.ie
mailto:caroline@aquafact.ie
mailto:[mailto:caroline@aquafact.ie]


Please find attached a scoping request for the deployment of a test tidal device in the Shannon 
Estuary for a period of approximately 9 months. AQUAFACT have been commissioned by DesignPro 
Ltd. in partnership with Clare Co. Co. and GKinetic Ltd. to prepare an Appropriate Assessment to 
accompany their foreshore licence application. Also included is a site location map. 
 
If you require any further information please do not hesitate to contact me, 
 
Dr. Caroline Roche, 
Senior Manager 
 
AQUAFACT International Services Ltd., 
12 Kilkerrin Park, Liosbaun, Tuam Rd., 
Galway,  
H91 FW7V 
Ireland 
00353 (0) 91 756812 
www.aquafact.ie 
 
 

http://scanmail.trustwave.com/?c=6600&d=-NiE2plgrWdYTD5gRVBfk2CE_bU0ii96VQlgiwAhFw&s=168&u=http%3a%2f%2fwww%2eaquafact%2eie




Consistency with the SIFP and the Clare County Development Plan 
 
As you correctly indicate the current proposed location within the Shannon Estuary is not within one 
of the four areas of opportunity identified for renewable energy under the SIFP. This is primarily 
down to the specification of the device. The four sites identified in the SIFP arose from the SEAI 
Report ‘Tidal & Current Energy Resource in Ireland’ which identified these sites as having tidal flows 
on a commercially viable scale. The Islands at the mouth of the River Fergus Estuary have several 
advantages as a demonstration site for this specific tidal energy device in comparison to the four 
areas of opportunity identified in the SIFP. In particular, they provide sheltered stretches of water 
with fairly high flow speeds. The testing of this device relates primarily to the demonstration of its 
functionality as opposed to a commercial scale device. The device is aimed at developing countries 
where there is a lack of grid infrastructure which requires distributed energy solutions this is 
particularly relevant for supplying remote island communities around the world with energy.  
 
The device would be similar to a mooring, would have 4 small anchors and does not require a 
connection to the foreshore. The unique concept is made up of two vertical axis turbines placed on 
either side of a buoyant deployment vessel, the “bluff body”. The shape of the vessel accelerates the 
flow of water into the turbines. The combination of this accelerated flow and the “blade Pitch 
Control System” allows for significant energy to be generated in low flows. The device is designed in 
such a way so as to exploit flow acceleration, it naturally diverts objects away from the device there 
by removing the collision risk with marine mammals or fish, it is easy to deploy and recover using 
floating deployment system and can self start and generate power as low as 0.5m/s.  
 
Other key elements of design relating to environmental impact include: 

1. Low blade tip speed, the rotational speed and aspect of the turbine blades is such that the 
blades do not travel faster than the water moving around them. This reduces risk of damage 
to both the equipment and marine life. 

2. All immersed bearing are manufactured from specialised plastic bush’s. No lubricants are 
used in immersed components. This eliminated the risk of pollution from such lubricants. 
The only lubricant used on the device is in the gearbox. This gearbox is a sealed unit with an 
IP 68 rating. The gearbox is itself housed in a protective housing and sealed housing that 
separates it from the marine environment.  

3. An approved anti-fouling paint system specified by “Jotun Paints” will be applied to the 
required standards.  

 
To date Limerick Docks have been used as a test site. The shipping area of the dock is operated by 
Shannon Foynes Port Company, while the test site itself is operated by GKinetic and is located on the 
banks of the River Shannon in Limerick City. The testing is carried out in a secure, enclosed wet dock 
facility with controlled water levels maintained at a minimum of 5 meters. GKinetic are partly funded 
by the Sustainable Energy Authority of Ireland to carry out testing in the Limerick Docks facility.  
 
The Clare County Development Plan 2017-2023 contains specific economic development objectives 
for the Marine Related Industry site at Cahiracon which seeks to harness the economic potential of 
the Estuary at this location and to capitalise on its natural deepwater characteristics for enhanced 
maritime activity. The proposed location of this tidal energy device for testing lies adjacent to the 
zoned Marine Related Industry site with a substantial public pier at Cahircon (3 km away) that will 
allow a shore side office/ monitoring station as well as storage of equipment. Foynes harbour (7 km 
away), a tier one port, has a multicat vessel and substantial cranage facilities in quite close proximity 
and this can be used for the launching of turbine. The favourable location utilising the existing 
infrastructure in place will negate the requirement for any construction and/or associated impacts 
to the environment.  



The SIFP contains a specific objective in relation to Research and Development (SIFP RD 1.1) which 
seeks to explore the potential sustainable development and promotion of the Shannon Estuary as a 
centre of excellence in research and development of renewable energy technologies. In addition, 
SIFP objective RE 1.8 looks to support and facilitate the sustainable development of renewable 
energy developments within and along the Shannon Estuary, in supporting Ireland’s legally binding 
obligations under EU Directives. Lastly, objective RE 1.9 looks to explore the potential of tidal energy 
as a viable renewable energy resource within the estuary.  
 
Clare County Development Plan 
 

Development Plan Objective: Renewable Energy 

CDP8.40 It is an objective of the development plan: 
a) To encourage and to favourably consider proposals for renewable 
energy developments and ancillary facilities in order to meet national, 
regional and County renewable energy targets, and to facilitate a 
reduction in CO2 emissions and the promotion of a low carbon 
economy; 
b) To assess future renewable energy-related development proposals 
having regard to the Clare Renewable Energy Strategy 2017-2023; 
c) To assess proposals for wind energy development and associated 
infrastructure having regard to the Clare Wind Energy Strategy and the 
associated SEA and AA, or any subsequent updated adopted strategy; 
d) To prepare an updated Wind Energy Strategy for County Clare during 
the lifetime of this development plan; 
e) To strike an appropriate balance between facilitating renewable and 
wind energy-related development and protecting the residential 
amenities of neighbouring properties; 
f) To support and facilitate the development of new alternatives and 
technological advances in relation to renewable energy production and 
storage, that may emerge over the lifetime of this Plan; 
g) To ensure that all proposals for renewable energy developments and 
ancillary facilities in the County are in full compliance with the 
requirements of the SEA and Habitats Directives and Objective CDP2.1; 
h) To promote and market the County as a leader of renewable energy 
provision; 
i) To support the implementation of ‘Ireland’s Transition to a Low 
Carbon Energy Economy 2015-2030’. 

 
Development Plan Objective: Strategic Integrated Framework Plan (SIFP) for the 
Shannon Estuary 

CDP11.2 It is an objective of the development plan: 
a) To support and implement the inter-jurisdictional Strategic 
Integrated Framework Plan (SIFP) for the Shannon Estuary in 
conjunction with the other relevant local authorities and agencies. All 
proposed developments shall be in accordance with the Birds and 
Habitats Directive, Water Framework Directive and all other relevant EU 
Directives. All proposed developments shall incorporate the Mitigation 
Measures as contained in the SIFP – Volume 7 of this Plan - for ensuring 
the integrity of the Natura 2000 Network; 
b) To proactively market the Strategic Development Locations in County 
Clare at Inishmurry/Cahiracon and Moneypoint as potential locations 
for future economic development. 

 
 
 



Development Plan Objective: Marine-Related Industry/Large-Scale Industry on the 
Estuary 

CDP11.3 It is an objective of the development plan: 
To capitalise on the natural deep water potential and existing port and 
maritime infrastructure, by facilitating and proactively encouraging the 
environmentally-sustainable development of maritime industries at 
appropriate locations within the Shannon Estuary, while seeking to 
improve and promote the road and rail connectivity of the deepwater 
ports in the County. All proposed developments shall be in accordance 
with the Birds and Habitats Directive, Water Framework Directive and 
all other relevant EU Directives; 
All development associated with marine-related industry shall 
incorporate the sector and site specific Mitigation Measures as 
contained in the SIFP – Volume 7 of this plan - for ensuring the integrity 
of the Natura 2000 Network. 

 
 

Development Plan Objective: Strategic Development Locations 

CDP11.4 It is an objective of the development plan: 
a) To safeguard the role and function of the Strategic Development 
Locations, which are identified on Map 11A and Map 11B;  
b) To support economic development by encouraging the sustainable 
growth, development and appropriate diversification of Strategic 
Development Locations; 
All proposed developments shall be in accordance with the Birds and 
Habitats Directive, Water Framework Directive and all other relevant EU 
Directives. 

 
This clearly demonstrates the correlation of the proposal at this location with the SIFP and the Clare 

County Development Plan.  

Application of Mitigation Measures as identified through the SIFP 

Tidal Energy Mitigation Measures (arising from the SEA) 

While the proposed location for testing of the tidal device does not lie within one of the areas of 

opportunity as identified through the SIFP, in assessing the applicability of the measures associated 

with those four sites to this proposal we have ascertained that the following apply. 

BFF MM 21 (SEA) 

The FLOWBEC project aims to improve the understanding of how the physical behaviour of the water 

such as currents, waves and turbulence at tide and wave energy sites influences the behaviour of 

marine wildlife, and how tide and wave energy devices might alter the behaviour of such wildlife. The 

output from these site investigations which are being undertaken by DEFRA and the Natural 

Environment Research Council should inform the locating of such a device within the site together 

with the type of device.  

Renewable Energy Mitigation Measures (arising from the SIFP NIR) 

In line with the requirements under the SIFP, the current assessment will determine, what (if any), 

direct and indirect impacts are likely from the short-term deployment of a uniquely designed test 

tidal device on the Qualifying Interests of the Natura 2000 sites. Table 6.4 documents the renewable 



energy mitigation measures arising from the SIFP NIR which will be utilised to inform the current 

assessment. Habitat surveys to characterise the seabed and identify sensitive habitats and species 

within the area will be undertaken as part of the initial assessments.  

 



 

 

 

 

 



 



 

As there are no infrastructural requirements, dredging, maintenance or dumping at sea 

requirements or the location of underwater features such as shipwrecks at this location all other 

mitigation measures under this heading are not deemed to be relevant. In addition, as there are no 

requirements other than to launch a small boat from the existing pier at Chairacon the mitigation 

measures identified for the Strategic Development Location at Inishmurry do not apply.  

Following consultation with Clare County Council and an analysis of the proposal against the 

objectives and mitigation measures of the SIFP we are satisfied that the proposal is consistent with 

the ethos and requirements of the SIFP.  

Finally, since issuing my initial consultation letter, a revision to the project plan has been made and 

the deployment duration is now expected to be 12 months as opposed to 9 months in the initial 

letter. There may be periods of time within this 12 month window where the device will be removed 

from the water, however 12 months will cover all stages of the testing as required by the Horizon 

2020 funding.  

We trust that this satisfies your concerns, however should you require any further information 

please do not hesitate to contact me at any time, 

Yours sincerely, 

 

Dr. Caroline Roche 



From: Julie Fossitt [Julie.Fossitt@chg.gov.ie] 
Sent: 20 March 2018 13:52 
To: Caroline 
Cc: Manager Dau; Sheila Downes; David Lyons 
Subject: RE: G Pre00024/2018 
 
Caroline 
 
Thank you for your response.  
 
You may be aware that I spoke to Sheila Downes, Clare County Council, about the matters raised 
regarding the relationship of your proposal with the SIFP, including, in particular, the details of SIFP 
mitigation measures which require review and/or apply in the case of the type of development and 
location in question. In this case, the proposed development is located within two European sites 
and within: 

1. habitats which are qualifying interests of the SAC 
2. habitats of species which are qualifying interests of the SAC 
3. habitats of bird species which are special conservation interests of the SPA 
4. wetlands which is a special conservation interest of the SPA 

 
The point I was making in my original email was that the SIFP and associated mitigation measures, 
and other key information, should be reviewed and taken into account to inform and optimise 
consultations with this Department, and so that more focused matters or queries can be raised, e.g. 
in relation to ‘scoping opinions’ or the scope of the NIS, if required. In this case, the SAC and SPA 
have site specific conservation objectives which, together with supporting documents and data on 
certain habitats and species, are available on the NPWS website. 
 
I note that you are meeting David Lyons tomorrow in relation to the proposal and certain marine 
ecology issues. If you have any other queries about specific aspects of assessments that may be 
required, please feel free to direct these to me, quoting the reference number above.  
 
Regards, 
Julie 
 



From: Caroline [caroline@aquafact.ie] 
Sent: 21 March 2018 16:37 
To: David Lyons 
Cc: Sheila Downes 
Subject: Meeting minutes 
 
Hi Dave, 
Thanks for meeting with us earlier. Here are a few notes on our understanding of things. 
Any additions/amendments, just let me know, 
All the best, 
Caroline 
 
Summary of Meeting with David Lyons NPWS, Sheila Downes Clare Co. Co. and Caroline Roche 
AQUAFACT re Shannon Tidal NIS 
 
SD summarised the project and the relevance to SIFP and its mitigation measures. 
 
CR explained the workings of the device. 
DL asked about the spacings between the blades in the rotor. SD to confirm. 
 
DL raised concerns in relation to otter and their use of the site and their possible interactions with the 
device. Suggested survey effort before application is made. 
 
DL had concerns about the bottlenose dolphin and the lack of empirical data on their usage of the 
site. SD/CR referred to letter from Simon Berrow indicating no collision risk and no evidence of 
frequent use of the Fergus Estuary by dolphins. SD indicated that SAM would be carried out before, 
during and after deployment of the device to log dolphin occurrence and explore potential effect of 
any device. DL suggested SAM throughout the summer and into autumn prior to submitting the 
application. Concerned about their interaction and displacement due to the device. 
 
A discussion was undertaken in relation to the potential approach within the screening for 
appropriate assessment which is currently being undertaken by Aquafact on behalf of DesignPro to 
accompany the Foreshore Licence Application. DL outlined that the assessment should look at the 
conservation objectives and how they may be impacted by the deployment of the tidal test device. SD 
proposed that through the use of the existing data relating to Bottlenose Dolphin use within the SAC 
it could be shown that there is little to no usage of this area of the estuary by Bottlenose Dolphins 
and that in addition there is no potential for impact through the deployment of the device that 
subsequently it may be possible to prove that there are no implications for the conservation 
objectives of the European Site, and in addition that there will be no adverse effects on the integrity 
of that site.  
 
DL indicated that it would be up to the applicants to prove this within the assessment as part of the 
application.  
 
SD highlighted the timing issues involves (device has to be in the water in September 2018 for H2020 
funding). DL did not see this timeline as realistic for MLVC and Foreshore Unit decisions. 
 
DL raised the issue of fish species. SD said she had consultation with Mike Fiitzsimmons and Dr. 
Jimmy King (IFI) who had no concerns about impacts on fish. 
 



DL had no concerns about the impact on benthic communities from the temporary placement of 
moorings on the seabed.  
 
DL asked about the noise level and frequency of the device. SD to confirm. 
 
 
Dr. Caroline Roche, 
Marine Ecologist 
 
AQUAFACT International Services Ltd., 
12 Kilkerrin Park, Liosbaun, Tuam Rd., 
Galway,  
H91 FW7V 
Ireland 
00353 (0) 91 756812 
www.aquafact.ie 
 

 
 
Disclaimer 
The information in this e-mail is confidential and may be legally privileged. It is intended solely for the addressee. Access to 
this e-mail by anyone else is unauthorised. If you are not the intended recipient, any disclosure, copying, distribution, or any 
action taken or omitted to be taken in reliance on it, is prohibited and may be unlawful. Please note that any views, 
opinions or advice contained in this email are those of the sending individual and not necessarily those of the firm. It is 
possible for data transmitted by e-mail to be deliberately or accidentally corrupted or intercepted. For this reason, where 
this communication is by e-mail, A.F. does not accept any responsibility for any breach of confidence which may arise from 
the use of this medium. If you have received this e-mail in error please notify us immediately at mail to: info@aquafact.ie 
and delete this e-mail from your system. 
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